NO. 69707-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DANIEL PEREZ,

Appellant.

STATE G- M. SALE DO

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At Daniel Perez's trial, the State admitted testimonial statements from a nontestifying witness in violation of the confrontation clause. Even if the court correctly found these statements non-testimonial, they should not have been admitted under the narrow excited utterance exception to the hearsay prohibition. In addition, Mr. Perez's right to a fair trial was violated by the use of a to-convict instruction for a crime of which the jury was not actually asked to convict Mr. Perez. Each of these three errors requires reversal of the resulting conviction.

In the alternative, this Court should remand for the trial court to correct the judgment and sentence.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The admission of out-of-court, testimonial statements from an unavailable witness violated Mr. Perez's constitutional right to confrontation where he had no prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness on the subject of the statements.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding David Hindal's statements non-testimonial.

- The trial court erred in admitting out-of-court statements by David Hindal under the excited utterance exception to the requirement that hearsay be excluded.
- The trial court erred in providing a to-convict jury instruction on an uncharged and unproved offense.
- 5. Over Mr. Perez's objection, the court erred in providing instruction number 10 (to-convict on murder in the second degree).
- 6. Instruction number 10 violated Mr. Perez's constitutional right to due process.
- 7. The presence of the assault conviction on the judgment and sentence violates the prohibition against double jeopardy.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. The Washington and federal constitutions guarantee an accused the right to cross-examine witnesses against him. Where a witness is unavailable at trial, his prior testimonial statements cannot be used against the accused unless the accused has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness regarding those statements. Statements made in response to police interrogation are testimonial if, objectively viewed, the statements were made not to resolve an ongoing exigency but to investigate or prosecute a potential crime. Did the trial court err

and violate Mr. Perez's right to confrontation by finding nontestimonial statements made by the alleged victim to law enforcement after any emergency had been resolved, the police and alleged victim were safe and secure, and the questioning and responses indicated a degree of formality, with the objective purpose being to solve a crime and not to resolve an emergency?

- 2. An out-of-court statement is generally inadmissible unless it fits within an exception to the hearsay rule. Excited utterances are admissible if the statement relates to a startling event or condition and is made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition. The proponent of the statement must show that the declarant made the statement while under the stress of excitement of the startling event or condition. Did the trial court abuse its discretion requiring reversal of the conviction by admitting the alleged victim's out-of-court statements under the excited utterance exception where the declarant had settled down, caught his breath, was cleared of any medical concern, and relayed an extensive narrative in response to police questioning?
- Jury instructions must be manifestly apparent to the average juror and must not be misleading. An instruction that reduces the

State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt violates due process.

Did the trial court err and violate Mr. Perez's right to due process by providing the jury with a to-convict instruction on the uncharged and unproved offense of second degree murder?

4. The double jeopardy clause prohibits multiple punishments for the same offense. The concept of punishment includes collateral consequences resulting from the public presence of a conviction.

Where a conviction was merged to comply with the prohibition against double jeopardy, should the judgment and sentence be remanded to exclude reference to the conviction?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. August 14, 2009.

Robert Hindal and Daniel Perez were inmates at the Monroe Correctional Complex.¹ Vol. II Insert RP 41-42. Mr. Hindal served as a laundry porter for his prison unit. Vol. II Insert RP 41-43. On days he was on laundry duty, he spent extensive time in the laundry room off

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is transcribed in separately paginated volumes referred to by volume number (e.g., "Vol. I RP") with the exception of an insert for the afternoon session on October 3, 2012, which is designated as "Vol. II Insert RP."

one of the two inmate dayrooms, dayroom two.² Vol. II Insert RP 41-43. On the morning of August 14, 2009, Mr. Hindal was on duty reading a book in the laundry room. Vol. II Insert RP 44-46, 62, 67-68; Vol. II RP 104-06. Mr. Perez was in the main area of the dayroom. Vol. II Insert RP 46-48, 68. At about 10:34, Mr. Perez entered the laundry room. Vol. II RP 89-90; Exhibit 3 at 10:34:47; Exhibit 4 at 10:34:48.³ Less than six minutes later, he returned to the main dayroom area and proceeded to exit the dayroom to return to his cell.⁴ Vol. II Insert RP 46-48; Exhibit 3 at 10:34:47 to 10:40:42.

About 30 seconds later, Mr. Hindal emerged from the laundry room, crossing his arms as he strutted around the dayroom with a string or cord-like-object around his neck and the television remote control in

² The dayrooms are available for the inmates to watch television and play cards; the only inmate entrance and exit to the laundry room is through dayroom two. Vol. II Insert RP 36-37.

³ Exhibits 3 and 4 are videos from the two cameras in dayroom two, which were collected on Sergeant Walters's orders while he interrogated Mr. Hindal. *See infra*; Vol. II RP 89-90, 95; *see* Vol. II RP 97-99 (only asked for twenty minutes of video to be reviewed; recognizing what video does not show). It is unclear from the evidence at trial whether the clock on the video reflects the accurate time of day. Vol. II RP 101-02, 107-08. The exhibits do not contain any audio. Instructions on viewing the exhibits can be found at CP 111. However, in counsel's experience, the exhibit will only fully function on some computers.

⁴ The testifying officers referred to the prisoners' cells as "houses." Vol. II Insert RP 33-34. Mr. Perez's exit from the dayroom and movement back to his cell were appropriate actions in light of the ongoing "recall," whereby inmates move back to their cells for a unit-wide count. Vol. II Insert RP 38-40, 48, 53-54.

his right hand. Exhibit 4 at 10:41:21; Vol. II RP 5-6 (testimony of Monte Walker at excited utterance hearing); *see* Exhibit 4 at 10:44 to 45 (showing object in Hindal's hand was remote). A corrections officer in the adjacent security booth, Monte Walker, saw Mr. Hindal through a large window and thought Mr. Hindal could be attempting to alert him regarding a self-harm situation, which had been common in that prison unit, or some other type of emergency. Vol. II RP 6, 17; Vol. II Insert RP 34-35, 49-50.

In the context of the prison, officers respond to an emergency by securing the area immediately surrounding the emergency, providing staff and medical responders (a "response team"), determining what happened, and, if necessary, securing the larger facility or other persons. Vol. II RP 32-33, 43-48. Once these measures have been taken, an investigation commences if appropriate, where the officers gather evidence and secure the crime scene. Vol. II RP 48.

Following these procedures, an emergency was called, a lockdown of the unit was commenced, and all inmates were directed to return to their cells.⁵ Vol. II RP 51-53, 131; Vol. II Insert RP 50, 87-

⁵ Many inmates were already in their cells and the remainder were already on their way because the emergency arose during a ten-minute movement

88; Vol. III RP 64. Two other corrections officers, Officer James Misiano and Sergeant Derek Walters, entered the dayroom within a few minutes to find Mr. Hindal staggering with bloodshot eyes, red marks on his face, and a one- to two-foot-long bed sheet fragment draped around his neck. Vol. II RP 20-22, 39, 49-50; Vol. II Insert RP 66-70; Vol. II RP 91; Exhibit 4 at 10:42:26 to 10:43:00. The officers told Mr. Hindal to have a seat at one of the dayroom tables and asked him what had happened and what was wrong. Vol. II RP 31, 40, 57. They encouraged him to talk. Vol. II RP 32, 40; Vol. II Insert RP 88-89. Mr. Hindal calmed down and the video shows he sat down at the table almost immediately. Vol. II RP 40-41; Exhibit 4 at 10:42:26 to 10:42:42. Corrections officer James Misiano recalled Mr. Hindal stated, "Perez." Vol. II RP 22-23, 31. Sergeant Walters testified that Mr. Hindal "actually started getting his breath back and he was actually able to start talking" at this point; he had calmed down. Vol. II RP 57, 58; see Vol. II RP 22-23 (Misiano's testimony that it seemed Hindal was trying to get words out but was having trouble speaking). Officer Misiano only heard Mr. Hindal state "Perez." Vol. II RP 22-23, 31; Vol. II Insert RP 70, 80. Officer Misiano left the dayroom, followed

prior to count referred to as "recall." Vol. II RP 51-52, 63-64; Vol. II Insert RP 38-40, 48, 53-54, 59-61, 72-73.

immediately by two other officers, and went to find Mr. Perez, who was in his cell as he should have been. Vol. II RP 23, 33-35; Vol. II Insert RP 51, 70-71; Exhibit 4 at 10:42:26 to 10:43:00.

Sergeant Walters testified Mr. Hindal made additional statements, "At first [Mr. Hindal] said he, 'He tried to kill me. He tried to kill me,' and when I asked who, he said 'Perez.' Then there was a lot of him just trying to catch his breath. Then he started talking about, 'Should have checked my pulse. Should have checked my pulse.'"

Vol. II RP 41; accord Vol. II RP 57-58. At least these final comments likely arose during the 30 seconds that Sergeant Walters was alone with Mr. Hindal in the dayroom, standing over him and pacing about.

Exhibit 4 at 10:43:00 to 10:43:28.

Next, the response team, which totaled seven officials including medical personnel, assembled in the dayroom. Vol. II RP 31-32, 42-43, 72-73, 131-32; Vol. II Insert RP 50-51; Exhibit 4 at 10:43:28. The medical team assessed Mr. Hindal and found no concern for ongoing issues. Vol. II RP 69-70, 75, 134, 136, 139. The various personnel were gathered around Mr. Hindal at the table, interviewing him and collecting evidence. Exhibit 4 at 10:43:28 to 10:45:47 (while many

⁶ Sergeant Walters did not mention the statement "Should have checked my pulse" in his written report following the incident. Vol. II RP 59-60.

responders stand around the seated Hindal, some look into laundry room and at the fabric gathered from Hindal's neck).

At this time, the initial response to the medical emergency had ended and evidence-gathering began. Vol. II RP 48, 80. As Sergeant Walters testified in a pretrial hearing, "we were no longer dealing with a medical emergency; we were dealing with an assault. It kind of ups it. We've got evidence, we've got a crime scene, we've got video. There's a lot of stuff that goes into play with that." Vol. II RP 48. Sergeant Walters ensured a perimeter was secured to contain all inmates, the offenders were all secured in their cells, and an officer was dispatched to retrieve evidence in the form of video tapes from cameras in the dayroom. Vol. II RP 60-61. Sergeant Walters had removed the fabric from around Mr. Hindal's neck, which was admitted at trial as Exhibit 2, and moved it to an adjacent table. Vol. II RP 61; Vol. II Insert RP 90-92; Exhibit 3 at 10:42:49, 10:43:58; CP (Sub # 70 (exhibit list)). He and the other responders interviewed Mr. Hindal, who had "settle[d] down." Vol. II RP 42, 47, 61-62; Exhibit 4 at 10:43:00 to 10:45:47. The video ends with the responders continuing to surround and question the seated Mr. Hindal. Exhibit 4 at 10:45:47.

⁷ A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed with the superior court for documents designated herein by subfolder number.

In response to Sergeant Walters's questioning, Mr. Hindal relayed the following: He was reading a book while performing his laundry porter duties, when he was attacked from behind. It felt like a dream. Once, the rope went around his neck he tried to grab it so he could breathe. Then he was able to turn around and saw Mr. Perez. Mr. Hindal began hitting Mr. Perez. Vol. II RP 61-63 (Sergeant Walters's testimony at pretrial hearing); Vol. II RP 112-13. "And [Mr. Hindal] went into talking about how he – I don't know, he described something like – he was rambling on a lot of stuff, there was just a lot of stuff he was saying. But he described that he acted like he was dead and he [Perez] didn't check a pulse." Vol. II Insert RP 90. At the conclusion of this interview, Mr. Hindal was moved to dayroom one and asked to provide a written statement. Vol. II RP 92.

2. Procedural posture.

The State charged Mr. Perez with attempted murder in the second degree, RCW 9A.28.020 and RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a), and assault in the second degree by strangulation, RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g). CP 176.

Prior to trial, Mr. Hindal refused to testify and was held in contempt. Vol. I RP 93-100. Recognizing the court would likely find

him in contempt, Mr. Hindal testified pretrial that he would not answer questions about the events of August 14, 2009. Vol. I RP 72. In response to the prosecutor's question whether he would "just not . . . respond" to questions on the stand, Mr. Hindal elaborated, "Actually, I would ask the jury to acquit Mr. Perez. I would. I've got a letter that I was trying to get to you guys, but it obviously didn't work. So, I mean, do you really want me here?" Vol. I RP 72. The prosecutor pressed Mr. Hindal further asking, "You're saying he's not guilty?" Vol. I RP 73. To which Mr. Hindal responded,

Yes, I'm saying that. Well, I'm saying he's not guilty as far as I'm concerned. I don't consider myself a victim. I mean, if I'm the alleged victim in this case and I say that there's no crime, I mean, the State can go forward with it, but I mean, isn't it kind of presumptuous for---[.]

Vol. I RP 73. The court interrupted the pretrial testimony to secure an attorney for Mr. Hindal. Vol. I RP 73. When the hearing continued, Mr. Hindal maintained that he would not testify and elaborated the basis for his refusal; he suffers from an obsessive-compulsive disorder that causes him to "feel that there's an entity [that no one can see] that stalks me and will actually bring harm to my family if I [testify]." Vol. I RP 76-83, 85-89. He then refused to answer questions about August 14, 2009. Vol. I RP 84-85.

Mr. Hindal's position did not change during the trial, and he was deemed unavailable to testify. Vol. I RP 103, 177-81; Vol. II Insert RP 30; Vol. III RP 1. Nonetheless, the trial court allowed the State to present Mr. Hindal's testimony through Sergeant Walters over Mr. Perez's confrontation and hearsay objections. CP 149, 170; Vol. I RP 30-42, 93-100, 112-13, 134. With regard to the confrontation clause, the trial court found Mr. Hindal's statements relaying details of the attempted strangling he had alleged Mr. Perez perpetrated were not the equivalent of testimony under the factors set forth in State v. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409, 418-19, 209 P.3d 479 (2009) (to determine whether statements made in response to interrogation are testimonial, courts should look to (1) whether the speaker was discussing currents events as they were actually occurring or past events, (2) whether a reasonable listener would conclude the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency that required help, (3) the nature of what was asked and answered, and (4) the level of formality of the interrogation). Vol. II Insert RP 23-27. Finding there was no constitutional bar to admitting Mr. Hindal's untested statements, the trial court also found the full course of Mr. Hindal's statements prior to being moved to the second dayroom were admissible hearsay under the excited utterance exception, ER

803(a)(2). Vol. II Insert RP 18-23. The jury thus received Mr. Hindal's accusations without Mr. Perez having the opportunity to cross-examine the witness. After the State rested, Mr. Perez presented the jury with Mr. Hindal's pretrial testimony that he would acquit Mr. Perez and does not consider himself a victim. Vol. III RP 58-62 (exhibit 42 read to jury); Exhibit 42; *see* Vol. III RP 42 (State does not object to admission as substantive evidence).

The jury ultimately convicted Mr. Perez of attempted murder in the second degree and second degree assault, as charged. CP 112-13. At sentencing, the State conceded the assault offense merged into the attempted murder offense to avoid violating the prohibition against double jeopardy. CP 25-26; Vol. III RP 138-40. Consequently, Mr. Perez was sentenced for attempted murder in the second degree only, although the assault conviction is noted on the judgment and sentence. CP 14, 15.

E. ARGUMENT

- The admission of testimonial statements from an unavailable witness violated Mr. Perez's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him.
 - a. Testimonial statements from an unavailable witness that were not previously subject to cross-examination must be excluded to preserve an accused's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment guarantees that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. This right guarantees the defendant a "face-to-face" meeting with witnesses against him and ensures an opportunity for cross-examination. *Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 1016, 108 S. Ct. 2798, 101 L. Ed. 2d 857 (1988); *Kentucky v. Stincer*, 482 U.S. 730, 739, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L.Ed.2d 631 (1987).

In *Crawford v. Washington*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Confrontation Clause guarantees a defendant's right to confront those "who 'bear testimony" against him. 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004) (quoting 2 N. Webster, An American Dictionary of the English Language (1828)). Under *Crawford*, an absent witness's testimonial statements are admissible

only if the declarant is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine him. *Id.* at 59. The *Crawford* Court provided examples of a "core class" of testimonial statements, including "statements contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions . . . [and] statements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." *Id.* at 51-52.

"[S]tatements taken by police officers during interrogations are testimonial." *Koslowski*, 166 Wn.2d at 417 (citing *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 52). In this context, the colloquial meaning of interrogation is intended. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53 n.3. In *Crawford*, the Court found a recorded statement, knowingly given in response to structured police questioning undoubtedly fell within the class of statements protected by the Sixth Amendment. *Id.*; *see id.* at 53 ("interrogations by law enforcement officers fall squarely within th[e] class" of statements to which the Confrontation Clause applies). If statements are made in response to police questioning "under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency" the statements are

generally nontestimonial. *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). However, such statements to police are testimonial "when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution." *Id*.

"[T]he existence of an 'ongoing emergency' at the time of an encounter between an individual and the police is among the most important circumstances informing the 'primary purpose' of an interrogation." *State v. Reed*, 168 Wn. App. 553, 563, 278 P.3d 203 (2012) (quoting *Michigan v. Bryant*, __ U.S. __, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 1157, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011)). "[W]here the statements are neither a cry for help nor provision of information that will enable officers immediately to end a threatening situation, it is immaterial that the statements were given at an alleged crime scene and were 'initial inquiries."

**Koslowski*, 166 Wn.2d at 421 (quoting *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 832).

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