IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 
OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION ONE 

NO. 69707-2-1 

-------~c .. ,~ ••• : 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

Respondent 

v. 

DANIEL J. PEREZ, 

Appellant 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 

MARKK. ROE 
Prosecuting Attorney 

KATHLEEN WEBBER 
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 
Attorney for Respondent 

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, MIS #504 
Everett, Washington 98201 
Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

inmates and guards. The trial court correctly found those initial 

statements were not testimonial. Pursuant to the reasoning in 
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Davis, admission of those statements did not violate the 

defendant's right to confrontation . 

The defendant challenges the trial court's conclusion that 

Hindal's initial statements were not testimonial, largely relying on 

Koslowski. That case is different from the one here because the 

record in Koslowski had been developed before Crawford and 

Davis had been decided. Thus the level of detail relevant for an 

analysis pursuant to those cases was lacking. Koslowski, 166 

Wn.2d at 421-22. Given the limited record the Court was 

constrained to find the victim's statements there were testimonial, 

and not designed to meet an ongoing emergency. lQ. 

The defendant argues that once Hindal stated his name 

there was no longer an ongoing emergency. He contends that 

since the prison was locked down, and the defendant could no 

longer reach Hindal, there was no longer an emergency to address. 

Thus all of Hindal's statements were testimonial. 

The defendant's argument fails to account for the record that 

demonstrates that there was more than one possible explanation 

for Hindal's injuries that were not resolved simply by naming the 

defendant. Nor does it account for the evidence showing that 

others besides Hindal were potentially at risk, and that the 
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information Hindal initially gave describing what happened was 

important for corrections officers to assess the risk and determine 

what security measure were required . The defendant's 

characterization of the interview with Hindal as "formal" is at odds 

with the chaotic atmosphere in the first two to six minutes officers 

and medical staff met with Hindal to assess the situation . The 

defendant confuses the later interview with Hindal wherein he gave 

a written statement which was not admitted into evidence, with the 

initial statements which the trial court found were not testimonial. 

On balance, when considering the circumstances and Hindal and 

the officer's actions, Hindal's statements were made to meet an 

ongoing emergency, and were not testimonial account of what 

happened. 

B. HINDAL'S STATEMENTS QUALIFIED AS AN EXCITED 
UTTERANCE. 

While Hindal's statements were not testimonial, they were 

still hearsay. Hearsay is a statement, other than made by the 

declarant at trial, which is offered to prove the truth of the matter. 

ER 801(C). Hearsay is not admissible, unless permitted by court 

rule. ER 802. Hearsay may be admitted into evidence if it qualifies 

as an excited utterance. ER 803(2). An excited utterance is "a 
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statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the 

declarant is under the stress of excitement cause by the event or 

condition." Id. 

A statement qualifies as an excited utterance if (1) a startling 

event occurred, (2) the declarant made the statement while under 

the stress or excitement of the event, and (3) the statement relates 

to the event. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 187, 189 P.3d 126 

(2008). "The key determination is 'whether the statement was 

made while the declarant was still under the influence of the event 

to the extent that [the] statement could not be the result of 

fabrication, intervening actions, or the exercise of choice or 

judgment.'" State v. Strauss, 119 Wn.2d 401, 416, 832 P.2d 78 

(1992) quoting Johnston v. Ohls, 76 Wn.2d 398, 406, 457 P.2d 

1914 (1969). 

The trial court also concluded that Hindal's statements were 

admissible as an excited utterance. 2 Insert RP 18-22. That 

decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. lQ. at 187-88. A 

court abuses its discretion when its decision is based on untenable 

grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Williams, 137 Wn. App. 

736,743, 154 P.3d 322 (2007). The appellant bears the burden to 

show the trial court abused its discretion. Id. 
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The first element of the test may be satisfied by 

circumstantial evidence, independent from the statements 

themselves. State v. Young, 160 Wn.2d 799, 809, 161 P.3d 967 

(2007). That may include "the declarant's behavior, appearance, 

and condition, appraisals of the declarant by others, and the 

circumstances under which the statement is made." !Q. at 810. 

Here the evidence showed Hindal was staggering around 

the dayroom, unable to speak for a time, with injuries to his throat 

and hands. Those facts suggested that he had just been strangled. 

Hindal's statements identifying the defendant and explaining that 

the defendant had tried to kill him related to the attempt to strangle 

him. Thus the first and third elements have been met. 

Hindal was also still under the stress of the attempted 

murder when he made the statements at issue. When considering 

whether this element has been met the Court looks at what the 

declarant's mental and emotional state was at the time he or she 

made the statements at issue. 

The passage of time does not preclude finding the 

statements were made under the stress of the startling event. 

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 855, 83 P.3d970 (2004). 

Statements made more than seven hours after a rape qualified as 
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an excited utterance in State v. Flett, 40 Wn. App. 277, 699 P.2d 

774 (1985). In Flett the rape victim was shaking and crying at the 

time she made the statements at issue. The court found the 

evidence demonstrated that she had been under the continual 

stress caused by the rape during that entire seven hour period, 

which justified finding the statements qualified as an excited 

utterance. lQ. at 279, 287. Similarly, evidence that the declarant 

was visibly shaken and appeared scared when he made a 

statement implicating the defendant in a murder showed the 

declarant was still under the stress of that event even though one 

and one-half hours had transpired between the murder and the 

statements. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 855. 

Statements made in response to questions may also qualify 

as excited utterances. State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 598, 23 

P.3d 1046, cert denied, 534 U.S. 964 (2001). In Woods the victim 

of a rape, robbery, and assault died after she was taken to the 

hospital. Woods, 143 Wn.2d at 569-72. On the way to the hospital 

the paramedic asked the victim "what happened?" and "who did it?" 

lQ at 596. The victim replied that she was hit "with a baseball bat" 

and that "a man named Dwayne" did it. ~ The statements were 

made about 45 minutes after the defendant fled the scene. Id. at 
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599. The Court found these statements were properly admitted as 

an excited utterance. The Court found they were "made in a 

spontaneous manner, on the heels of a clearly startling event." In 

addition, the victim was emotional, and in pain. 

The trial court relied on both the testimony and video 

evidence showing Hindal within moments after the assault when it 

concluded Hindal's statements in the dayroom qualified as an 

excited utterance. It distinguished those statements from the 

statements he made a short time later when Hindal was moved to 

another room where he was questioned more formally and made a 

written statement. 2 Insert RP 19-23. The record supports the trial 

court's conclusion that Hindal was still under the stress of the 

attempted murder at the time he made those initial statements. 

Officer Walker first noticed Hindal when he was walking 

around the dayroom flapping his arms, panicking and gasping for 

air. When Officer Misiano and Sergeant Walters entered the 

dayroom Hindal was staggering, and swaying. He had difficulty 

breathing, and was initially unable to talk, despite attempts to do so. 

When Hindal said "Perez" he was standing, still trying to catch his 

breath. Although officers urged him to calm down, and got him to 

sit down, he did not calm down. Instead he continued to try to 
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catch his breath. Like the victim in Woods, Hindal spontaneously 

said "he tried to kill me" in response to Walter's question "what 

happened?" The DVD shows that while sitting Hindal repeatedly put 

his head down and raised it. Those actions show he was still under 

the stress of nearly being killed. 2 RP 6, 21-22, 39-43, 57, Ex. 3 

and 4. 

The defendant argues that Hindal was no longer under the 

stress of the event when he made the statements, stating that 

Hindal was seated and calm within the first six seconds of the 

officer's entry into the dayroom. Thus only what he may have 

stated during the initial six seconds qualified as an excited 

utterance. Therefore the trial court abused its discretion when it 

concluded his statements qualified as an excited utterance. BOA at 

32. 

The defendant's argument ignores the evidence presented 

at the hearing and reasonable inferences that could be drawn from 

that evidence. Given the nature of the assault, the short time frame 

between the assault and Hindal's statements, his initial inability to 

even speak, and his actions after the assault while in the dayroom 

where officers initially spoke with him, the trial court was justified in 

finding Hindal was still under the stress of the assault when he 
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made the initial statements to corrections officers. Merely sitting 

down was not an act sufficient to "calm" Hindal to the point that his 

statements could be the result of "fabrication, intervening actions, 

or the exercise of choice or judgment." The trial court did not abuse 

it's discretion when it concluded Hindal's first statements, before he 

was escorted into another room for a more formal interview and 

written statement, were the product of an excited utterance. 

c. THE JURY WAS CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED REGARDING 
THE OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED SECOND DEGREE MURDER. 

The State proposed a set of jury instructions which included 

WPIC 100.02 defining the elements of attempted second degree 

murder and WPIC 27.02 defining the elements of second degree 

murder. 2 CP 193, 195. The defense suggested that the instruction 

defining the elements of second degree murder might be confusing 

to the jury, although the defense did not have "a strong objection" to 

that. 3 RP 39. Later the defense argued that the final two 

paragraphs in the proposed instruction setting out the elements of 

second degree murder from the standard instruction could be 

confusing as to whether the jury was to convict the defendant of 

second degree murder or attempted second degree murder. 

Instead the defense proposed an alternative instruction that 
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modified WPIC 27.02 which omitted the last two paragraphs. 3 RP 

44-45, 1 CP 138. 

The court gave the State's proposed instruction defining the 

elements of second degree murder. The court reasoned that it was 

recommended that instruction be given in the comments to the 

WPIC. It did not believe that there would be any undue confusion 

because the verdict form stated the crime was attempted second 

degree murder, and there was evidence Hindal survived the attack. 

The court also reasoned that the parties would be able to argue in a 

manner that would eliminate any confusion. 3 RP 44-45. 

The defendant now argues the trial court erred when it gave 

WPIC 27.07 without modifying it to eliminate the last two 

paragraphs as he had advocated for at trial. Jury instructions are 

sufficient if they permit each party to argue their theory of the case, 

are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the 

trier of fact on the applicable law. In re Wright, 138 Wn. App. 582, 

586, 155 P.3d 945 (2007), review denied, 162 Wn.2d 1017 (2008). 

The instructions here, taken as a whole, correctly informed 

the jury regarding the elements of attempted second degree 

murder. They were not misleading because they accurately stated 
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the elements of both the attempted offense, and the underlying 

offense. 

The specific portion of the instruction that the defendant now 

challenges reads: 

To convict the defendant of the crime of murder in the 
second degree each of the following elements of the 
crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. .. 

If you find from the evidence that each of these 
elements has been proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of 
guilty. 

On the other hand, if after weighing all of the 
evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to anyone 
of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a 
verdict of not guilty. 

1 CP 126. 

The additional language in Instruction number 10 defining 

the elements of second degree murder did not preclude the 

defense from arguing its theory of the case. The defense was that 

the evidence produced was insufficient to prove the defendant tried 

to kill Hindal. Counsel pointed to the lack of injuries on the 

defendant after the incident, and the lack of evidence of a struggle 

in the laundry room. Counsel posited the alternative theory that at 

best the defendant was a co-conspirator in Hindal's plan to commit 

suicide. 3 RP 78-103. Nothing in the introduction or concluding 
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two paragraphs directing what was necessary to convict the 

defendant of the completed crime prevented the defendant from 

arguing that theory of his case. 

Despite that the defendant argues that the instruction as 

given amounted to an instruction on an uncharged and unproved 

offense. BOA at 36. "When the jury is instructed on an uncharged 

crime, a new trial is appropriate when it is possible that the 

defendant was mistakenly convicted of an uncharged crime." State 

v. Kirwin, 166 Wn. App. 659, 569, 271 P.3d 310(2012). Here there 

is no possibility that the jury would have mistakenly convicted the 

defendant of the completed crime of second degree murder. 

The jury was accurately instructed that in order to convict the 

defendant of attempted second degree murder it must find that the 

defendant did an act that was a substantial step toward the 

commission of second degree murder, and that it was done with the 

intent to commit second degree murder. 1 CP 124. It was also 

instructed what "substantial step" and "intent" meant. 1 CP 125, 

130. While completed offense required evidence that Hindal died, 

the attempted offense did not. Compare 1 CP 124 and 1 CP 126. 

There was no evidence Hindal died as a result of the defendant's 

acts. As the trial court observed, Exhibit 42, the transcript of 
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Hindal's pre-trial testimony, clearly showed he was not dead. 3 RP 

45. The parties repeatedly referred to this crime as an attempted 

murder, not a completed murder, in closing arguments. 3 RP 77, 

79, 86, 89, 91-92, 105. In addition, the verdict clearly stated the 

crime the jury was to consider was attempted second degree 

murder. 1 CP 113. In an analogous situation, where the jury was 

otherwise correctly instructed on the attempted offense, but verdict 

form incorrectly stated the completed offense, this Court found the 

only offense the jury could have convicted of was the attempted 

offense. State v. Imhoff, 78 Wn. App. 349, 898P.2d 852 (1995). 

Similarly, the only crime the defendant could have been convicted 

of here was attempted second degree murder. Thus, even if it 

were error to include the additional language in the instruction 

defining the elements of second degree murder, it would not 

entitled the defendant to a new trial. 

The defendant also argues that the instruction relieved the 

State of its burden of proof. BOA at 39. The trial court is required to 

instruct the jury on every essential element of the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. Gerdts, 136 Wn App. 720, 727, 150 

P.3d 627 (2007). Here between the "to convict" instruction for 

attempted second degree murder and the instruction setting out the 
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elements of second degree murder the jury was informed of every 

essential element of the offense. The additional language in the 

second degree murder instruction did not diminish what the State 

was required to prove. If anything the added language increased 

the State's burden of proof. 

Not every omission or misstatement in a "to convict" 

instruction relieves the State of its burden of proof. State v. Brown, 

147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). In that case the error is 

subject to a harmless error analysis. Id. Where an element of the 

offense is alleged to be misstated or omitted the error is harmless 

when the Court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

verd ict would have been the same absent the error. Id. at 341. 

Here the added language did not omit or misstate an 

element of the charge. Nevertheless, even under the constitutional 

harmless error analysis employed in Brown, the alleged error in 

Instruction 10 was harmless. As discussed above, the evidence 

only proved the defendant was guilty of the attempted offense, 

because Hindal did not die. Thus the defendant could only be 

convicted of the charged offense, attempted second degree 

murder. He was in no jeopardy of being convicted of that 

completed crime.

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